ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 65,507

65637

FILED

OCT 27 1984

CHARLES WILLIAM PROFFITT,

APPELLANT

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE

CLERK SUPREME COURT  
By *[Signature]*  
Chief Deputy Clerk

---

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN  
AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY  
STATE OF FLORIDA

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

IRWIN J. BLOCK  
FINE JACOBSON BLOCK ENGLAND  
KLEIN COLAN AND SIMON, P.A.  
2401 Douglas Road  
P.O. Box 140800  
Miami, Florida 33134  
(305) 446-2200

DAVID S. GOLUB  
SILVER, GOLUB AND SANDAK  
184 Atlantic Street  
Stamford, Connecticut 06904  
(203) 325-4491

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

##### A. The Guilt/Innocence Trial.

At Mr. Proffitt's trial in 1974, evidence was introduced that shortly before 5:00 a.m. on July 10, 1973 [T.R. 251], Joel Medgebow was stabbed once in the chest [T.R. 229] in his ground floor apartment in Tampa, Florida. [T.R. 252].

There were no witnesses to the actual homicide. The crime was discovered when Mr. Medgebow's wife awoke and found him sitting up in bed. [T.R. 251]. According to Mrs. Medgebow, her husband, a wrestling coach, was a light sleeper. [T.R. 250, 256]. After she awakened and saw her husband holding what appeared to be a ruler, a man jumped up, came around the bed to where she was and hit her, knocking her down.

---

3. The State's motion for stay of the resentencing to allow an appeal of this ruling was denied by the trial court. [R. 231]. The State thereupon instituted an "appeal" to the District Court of Appeals and moved to stay the resentencing. The State's motion for stay was denied by the District Court of Appeals, and the appeal was construed as a petition for certiorari. That proceeding has now been consolidated with the State's cross-appeal in this action.

[T.R. 251]. Mrs. Medgebow then observed the individual run out of the bedroom. [Id.] When she got up he was gone. [Id.] Mrs. Medgebow then discovered that her husband had been stabbed and that the "ruler" was a bread knife. [Id.; T.R. 282; State's Exhibit 4 (photograph)]. Mr. Medgebow was taken by ambulance to the hospital where it was determined that he was dead on arrival. The autopsy revealed that he had died as the result of a single stab wound in the chest. [T.R. 229]. No other wounds were inflicted. [Id.]

No physical evidence was introduced to link Mr. Proffitt to the scene of the crime. Mrs. Medgebow was unable to identify Mr. Proffitt as the individual who had hit her on the morning of the murder. [T.R. 254]. The only testimony connecting Mr. Proffitt to the crime was that of Mary Bassett, a 16-year old boarder who lived with him and his wife in their trailer. [T.R. 367]. Mary Bassett testified that at approximately 5:00-5:30 a.m. on the morning of July 10, 1973, she woke up and overheard Mr. Proffitt and his wife talking in their bedroom. [T.R. 375-76]. Mary Bassett testified that she overheard Mr. Proffitt say that he had just stabbed a man while burglarizing a place, and that he had hit a woman at the same time. [T.R. 376, 379]. She also heard him tell his wife to call the police. [T.R. 379-80].

There was evidence that on the night of the crime Mr. Proffitt left work at approximately 7:00 p.m. and went drinking with several of his co-workers at a bar in Tampa. [T.R. 303]. Although Mr. Proffitt did not ordinarily stay out past 10:00 p.m. [T.R. 371], particularly

when his wife was not with him [T.R. 381-82], that night he remained drinking at the bar for approximately seven and one half hours, leaving the bar at 3:15 a.m. after it closed. [T.R. 309, 313]. He then drove a friend home, talking for a while in the car before departing at approximately 3:30-3:45 a.m. [T.R. 310-11]. There is no evidence that Mr. Proffitt made any statements that night indicating any intention to commit a crime. He had no knife with him that night. [T.R. 313; R. 236].

B. The 1974 Penalty Hearing.

At the penalty hearing conducted in 1974, the State presented the testimony of Dr. James Crumbley, a physician employed by the Hillsborough County Sheriff's office as a psychiatric consultant for inmates at the Hillsborough County Jail. Crumbley's testimony regarding the content of psychiatrist-patient conversations he had with Mr. Proffitt was suppressed and excluded by the trial court at Mr. Proffitt's resentencing [R. 230-31] and is, therefore, not applicable to this appeal. No other testimony was presented at the 1974 sentencing proceeding before the jury.<sup>4</sup>

---

4. In addition to Dr. Crumbley's testimony, the State introduced, over defense counsel's objection, a certified copy of a record of conviction of Mr. Proffitt in 1967 for breaking and entering without permission in Stamford, Connecticut. [T.R. 494-95] Mr. Proffitt's conviction for this offense was vacated by the Connecticut court prior to his resentencing. [See defendant's Exs. 1 - 2 and R. 257-59]. Although the Connecticut offense involved, §53-75, Conn. Gen. Stat., was a misdemeanor, see R. 255-56, and although the record of conviction indicates that Mr. Proffitt received a suspended sentence, [see R. 260], the prosecutor erroneously argued to the jury that Mr. Proffitt had previously been convicted of a felony and served time in jail on the offense. [T.R. 509, 512].

Mr. Proffitt's counsel offered no evidence at the penalty hearing regarding Mr. Proffitt's character or background, believing --as he has since testified -- that such information was excluded from consideration by Florida's death penalty statute. See Proffitt v. Wainwright, supra at 1248. The jury thus heard no evidence or argument concerning Mr. Proffitt's history, marriage, employment record, non-violent background, family, difficult upbringing -- or any other element in mitigation.

The jury recommended a sentence of death [T.R. 535], and the trial court accepted the jury's recommendation. [T.R. 556].<sup>5</sup>

C. The 1984 Resentencing Proceedings.

At his resentencing in 1984, Mr. Proffitt presented substantial evidence concerning his background and character. The evidence in mitigation demonstrated that Mr. Proffitt is a non-violent man who throughout his life had avoided confrontation. [R. 235, 245, 269, 279-80, 290].<sup>6</sup> He has no prior criminal record, nor any history of

---

5. The trial court's (1974) findings are not before the Court in this appeal. It should be noted, however, that three of the four findings relied upon by the trial court in 1974 in support of the death penalty were legally inapplicable or factually unsupported and were not even argued by the State at the resentencing. The only remaining factor was murder during the course of a burglary. Proffitt v. Wainwright, supra at 1268.

6. Mrs. Proffitt testified that when she and her husband had a disagreement, he would respond by watching television and ignoring her or taking a walk. [R. 279-80]. Mary Bassett, the boarder, testified that Mr. Proffitt could not even cope with having a puppy with distemper killed, and her husband had to do it instead. [R. 246].

violent behavior. [R. 28, 235, 245, 252, 279-80]. His co-workers and family members testified that they had never seen him in a physical fight with another person [R. 235, 245, 252, 269], nor had they ever seen him carry a weapon. [R. 235, 236, 245, 252, 280, 296].

Mr. Proffitt comes from a difficult background. His father became an alcoholic early in Mr. Proffitt's childhood after the death of Mr. Proffitt's baby sister, [R. 264, 267], and his mother was forced to work two jobs to support the family. [R. 268]. Mr. Proffitt and his five siblings moved from Virginia to Connecticut, where his parents were unable to keep the family living together for a period of time, sending the children to different homes to live. [R. 266]. Mr. Proffitt grew up living in housing projects and shanties. [R. 263, 264, 266-67, 297].

Mr. Proffitt responded to his family situation responsibly by starting work at a young age and contributing to the support of his family. [R. 268]. After marriage, he continued to be steadily employed, supporting his wife (and other family members in need<sup>7</sup>) until the day he was arrested for this offense. [R. 252-53, 268, 279]. He was also thoughtful of others in need, opening his home to Mary Bassett and her husband "until [they] could get on [their] feet again" after the birth

---

7. When Mr. Proffitt's mother was forced to stay at home after an operation, Mr. Proffitt stayed with her and took care of her until she recovered. [R. 297]. She described him as "a loving, caring boy." [R. 296].

of their baby. [R. 244].<sup>8</sup> He was a good and responsible worker who got along with with his fellow workers. [R. 234, 235, 236, 252].

Mr. Proffitt had a "very loving, happy, tender, caring relationship" with his wife, which he has maintained throughout the ten years of his incarceration. [R. 245, 253, 277-78, 281-82]. His mother, brother and three sisters have maintained close contact with him, reflecting strong family ties. [R. 271, 288, 293, 307]. After his initial flight, Mr. Proffitt surrendered voluntarily to his brother, a Stamford, Connecticut police officer. [R. 262, 271]. He was "distraught," "going to pieces [and] ... sorry for everything that had happened." [R. 270]. Prior to the offense, he had been drinking for close to eight hours. [R. 238].

Mr. Proffitt also introduced evidence of his character and adjustment in prison. Father Robert Baker, a priest who counselled inmates on death row for several years, testified that Mr. Proffitt was someone who has sincere and deeply held religious beliefs [R. 287] and who expressed a real concern for other people. [R. 288]. Father Baker testified that Mr. Proffitt has adjusted with understanding rather than hostility or antagonism to his incarceration even though he has never before been incarcerated. [R. 290].<sup>9</sup>

---

8. Mr. Proffitt was responsible for convincing Mary Bassett's husband, who was A.W.O.L., to turn himself in to the military authorities at his base. [R. 247].

9. Father Baker made clear that he was ordinarily very suspicious of inmates trying to use him or religion, but believed Mr. Proffitt's religious feelings to be genuine. [R. 292].

Father Baker also testified that Mr. Proffitt has unique family support [R. 293, 288], providing a strong potential for future growth. [R. 288].<sup>10</sup> There is no evidence of any violent behavior by Mr. Proffitt in the ten years he has been on death row.

At the resentencing, the State presented the testimony of Drs. Daniel J. Sprehe and Robert Coffey, two psychiatrists who had been appointed by the trial court in 1974 to examine Mr. Proffitt prior to his original sentencing. The psychiatrists testified that, in their opinions, Mr. Proffitt was competent at the time of his 1974 trial [R. 181, 196], was not suffering from any extreme emotional distress at the time of the examinations or the crime [R. 181-82, 196], and could appreciate the criminality of his conduct and conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. [R. 180-81, 197]. The doctors' opinions were based solely upon their fifty-minute interviews with Mr. Proffitt in March 1974. Defendant's objections to the testimony on constitutional, statutory and relevancy grounds were denied by the trial court. [R. 158-67].<sup>11</sup>

---

10. Father Baker's testimony pertained to his frequent contacts with Mr. Proffitt over a three-year period commencing in 1979. [R. 294]. Mr. Proffitt's attempt to proffer evidence concerning his adjustment, character and behavior on death row prior to 1979, in the form of a letter from a now-deceased officer at the prison who served as death row counsellor, was rejected by the trial court, in response to the State's hearsay objection. [See R. 304].

11. It should be noted that the State expressly declined any reliance on the written reports prepared by Dr. Sprehe and Dr. Coffey at the time of the original sentencing. [R. 186-87, 198]. Such reports are, therefore, not part of the record considered by the trial court at the 1984 resentencing nor included in the record for review by this Court.



The trial court resentenced Mr. Proffitt to death, finding two aggravating circumstances, one statutory mitigating circumstance and non-statutory mitigating evidence.<sup>12</sup>

---

12. The trial court found, in relevant part:

AS TO AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES: (A) That the Defendant, CHARLES WILLIAM PROFFITT murdered JOEL RONNIE MEDGEBOW from a premeditated design and while the Defendant, CHARLES WILLIAM PROFFITT, was engaged in the commission of a felony, to-wit: burglary.

(B) That prior to, or after entering the living premises of the victim, JOEL RONNIE MEDGEBOW, the Defendant, CHARLES WILLIAM PROFFITT, armed himself with a knife and thereafter did murder the said JOEL RONNIE MEDGEBOW by stabbing him in the heart with said knife. The homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

....

AS TO MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES: ... (A) The Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

....

(H) That the Court has weighed carefully the testimony of the Defendant, CHARLES WILLIAM PROFFITT'S, family, former co-workers, religious advisor and others in a search for mitigating factors, and has accorded that testimony the weight the Court feels is appropriate.

[R. 27-28].

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The principal aggravating circumstance relied upon by the trial court in sentencing Mr. Proffitt to death -- that the homicide was "cold, calculated and premeditated" -- was improperly found and applied. The evidence does not support a finding that the murder was committed with any heightened level of premeditation. Rather, the evidence of Mr. Proffitt's character and behavior before, during and after the offense negates any inference that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Moreover, since the factor was not added to the death penalty statute until many years after Mr. Proffitt's offense and original trial, application of the factor at Mr. Proffitt's resentencing violated the ex post facto, due process, right to counsel, privilege against self-incrimination, equal protection, and cruel and unusual punishment provisions of the Florida and United States Constitutions.

2. Death is an excessive and inappropriate sentence for Mr. Proffitt based on his character and background and the circumstances of the offense. There was substantial mitigating evidence demonstrating Mr. Proffitt's non-violent character and history, his lack of prior criminal record, his close marital and family ties, his good employment record, his intoxication on the night of the offense, and his voluntary surrender to the authorities. Mr. Proffitt was convicted of a burglary-homicide without any additional acts of abuse to the victim. This Court has never sustained a death penalty for such an offense for a person of Mr. Proffitt's character and record.

3. The trial court improperly excluded mitigating evidence relevant to Mr. Proffitt's character and background before and after the offense, in violation of constitutional requirements as well as the statutory provisions of Fla. Stat. §921.141(1).

4. The trial court erred in resentencing Mr. Proffitt without benefit of a new jury recommendation of sentence. The 1974 jury proceedings on penalty contained no information about Mr. Proffitt's character or background and were tainted by improper evidence, argument and instruction.

#### ARGUMENT

A. THE "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED" AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND, IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF MR. PROFFITT'S CASE, CANNOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY TO SENTENCE HIM TO DEATH.

In resentencing Mr. Proffitt to death, the trial court relied on only one aggravating circumstance that was in existence at the time of Mr. Proffitt's 1974 trial and original sentencing -- that the murder was committed during a burglary. Fla. Stat. §921.141(5)(d). As this Court has held, the felony-murder factor alone is insufficient to support a sentence of death, even where there are no mitigating circumstances. See e.g., Rembert v. State, 445 So.2d 337, 340 (Fla. 1984).

At Mr. Proffitt's resentencing in 1984, the State sought to avoid the import of Rembert by relying on an aggravating circumstance added to the statute in 1979, arguing that the murder was committed in a "cold, calculated and premeditated" manner. Fla. Stat. §921.141(5)(i)

(Ch. 79-353, Laws of Florida). The trial court resentenced Mr. Proffitt to death in the face of the substantial statutory and non-statutory mitigating evidence presented at the resentencing by relying on the additional factor. [R. 27].

The cold, calculated and premeditated factor, however, was not supported by the evidence in this case. Moreover, it cannot be applied to Mr. Proffitt's case without violating his rights under the ex post facto, due process, right to counsel, privilege against self-incrimination, equal protection and cruel and unusual punishment provisions of the Florida and federal Constitutions.

1. The Factor is Not Supported by the Evidence.

This Court has held that the cold, calculated and premeditated factor only applies in cases where the evidence establishes a contract or execution-style murder, McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804, 807 (Fla. 1982), or a "particularly lengthy, methodical or involved series of atrocious events or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator." Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939, 946 (Fla. 1984). This was not such a crime.

The evidence of Mr. Proffitt's conduct and character before, during and after the crime negates any finding that he acted from a cold and calculated intent to commit a homicide. Mr. Proffitt had been drinking for over seven hours on the night of the crime. [T.R. 309, 313]. He made no statements that night of any criminal intentions,

and had no weapon with him. [T.R. 313, R. 236]. The victim was stabbed only once [T.R. 229], without torture or abuse [id.], and even more important, when Mr. Proffitt ran from the apartment, the victim was visibly still alive. [T.R. 251]. Although Mr. Proffitt struck Patricia Medgebow with his fist when she awoke [id.], he made no attempt to inflict mortal injuries on her, but rather fled. [Id.]. Mr. Proffitt immediately went home, where he confessed to his wife and told her to call the police. [T.R. 379-80]. After his initial flight, he voluntarily surrendered to the authorities, expressing remorse over the crime and inability to live with himself. [R. 270]. He has no prior or subsequent history of any violence and no criminal record. [R. 28, 235, 245, 252, 269, 279-80, 290].

These facts -- which indicate little if any premeditation,<sup>13</sup> and certainly no previously-conceived homicidal plan -- are the only evidence relating to premeditation. There is no evidence in the record as to how the crime occurred. No one saw the actual crime or testified

---

13. Indeed, because the evidence of premeditated murder was weak, the felony-murder theory was prominent in the State's presentation throughout the trial, particularly during the voir dire [T.R. 99, 100, 101-03, 105, 107, 109, 156, 157, 178-80, 189-90, 199], and the state attorney's closing argument. [T.R. 437, 441, 444]. The only arguable evidence of premeditation was circumstantial, inferential and negligible, while there was direct evidence of Mr. Proffitt's unlawful entry into the apartment (and thus, the State argued, a burglary) through Mr. Proffitt's statements to his wife. The trial court instructed on both felony-murder and premeditated murder [T.R. 473, 475, 478-79], and the jury returned a general verdict of guilt. [T.R. 491]. It is more likely than not under these circumstances that the jury convicted on the felony-murder theory. See Franklin v. State, 403 So.2d 975, 976 (Fla. 1981).

as to the events leading up to its commission.<sup>14</sup> There was no evidence of how the victim was stabbed, no evidence of whether he was awake or asleep when attacked, no evidence of where the murder weapon, a bread knife, had come from, no evidence of how the assailant and victim encountered each other, i.e., of whether the victim, a wrestling coach and light sleeper, had awakened and confronted the defendant, no evidence of the defendant's prior motivation or state of mind, no evidence to refute the logical conclusion that the defendant had been surprised during a burglary of the apartment and had, in panic and perceived self-defense, assaulted the victim.

This Court has held on at least four occasions -- on facts virtually identical to those here -- that evidence of a murder committed during a residential burglary does not warrant a finding of cold, calculated and premeditated murder. Peavy v. State, 442 So.2d 200, 202 (Fla. 1983); Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520, 526 (Fla. 1984); Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983); Harris v. State, 438 So.2d 787, 797-98 (Fla. 1983).

In Peavy, the victim had been found lying dead of stab wounds in his bed in his apartment, which had been ransacked. There was no evidence of how the murder had occurred, although Peavy's involvement was established by the presence of his fingerprints in the apartment and by his own admissions. This Court overruled the trial court's

---

14. Mrs. Medgebow awoke after the crime had occurred. She had no knowledge of how, when, or even where the stabbing had occurred. She could only testify that she awoke and saw her husband sitting on the bed, alive, holding what later turned out to be a knife. [T.R. 251].

finding that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated, stating:

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