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

Finally, even to the extent that the failure to allow any of these exhibits in evidence constituted error, it was harmless.

In view of the character evidence which was presented and to which the judge, in his province gave little weight, Teffeteller v. State, 439 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1983), can any one seriously say that there is a reasonable doubt that had the judge considered the two letters and two affidavits it would have made a difference in his sentence? Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427 (1972).

Moreover, even if this court feels that the court erred, and has doubts as to whether the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, it does not call for a reversal or remand. All that is needed is a simple order requiring the lower court to respond as to whether, if it had considered the proffered exhibits, it would have made any difference in its decision. Compare State ex rel Fox v. Maroney, 385 F.2d 839 (3rd DCA 1967), Grandison v. Warden, Maryland House of Corrections, 580 F.2d 1231 (4th Cir 1978), Hampton v. Wyrick, 588 F.2d 632 (8th Cir 1978).

#### ISSUE IV

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PROFFITT'S MOTION FOR IMPANELING A JURY.

(Appellant's Issue D re-stated)

Appellant argues that the lower court erred in denying him a new jury sentencing proceeding. We disagree. In the first place neither this nor any Florida Court has held that Appellant's sentence was deficient in any respects. Appellant was resentenced because the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit determined that certain constitutional deficiencies had occurred after the jury had rendered its recommendation of death. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982). Interestingly, another panel of that same Eleventh Circuit has stated that Proffitt v. Wainwright has no precedential value ----- at least with respect to its analysis of the aggravating circumstances. See Alvord v. Wainwright, 725 F.2d 1282 (11th Cir. 1984).

Aside from the constitutional error it found to exist with respect to aggravating factors the Eleventh Circuit found two other constitutional errors, but neither involved the jury, both having occurred after the jury had made its recommendation. One of these two alleged constitutional errors concerned the testimony of Dr. Coffey who testified while appellant was absent from the court room at the post trial ad hoc proceedings. The Eleventh Circuit held that although the trial had terminated, the hearing was a critical state of the sentencing proceedings and that counsel could not waive his presence. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d at 1256-1261 and 706 F.2d 311 (1983) (on petition for rehearing). The second concerned

consideration of Dr. Sprehe's report by the trial judge in imposing sentence without allowing appellant to cross examine Dr. Sprehe. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d at 1251-1255. Since Dr. Sprehe examined Proffitt and rendered his report to the trial judge after the jury had rendered its recommendation the jury never had this report and any error with respect to this report cannot be deemed to have implicated the jury.

Thus far the federal courts have refused to require a new jury sentencing proceeding. Judge William Terrell Hodges, United States District Judge has refused to so order (R 3). It may be that the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals will eventually hold that one should have been ---- although in light of Spaziano v. Florida, 35 Cr. L. 3199 (1984) which held that, constitutionally, jury sentencing is not required, we doubt one could be ordered by the federal courts. Nevertheless, this Court, not having found any constitutional infirmities in appellant's original sentence, should not order a new jury sentencing proceeding predicated on the Eleventh Circuit's decision. If jury sentencing proceedings are deemed by this court to have been necessitative it should so order only on the basis of what it considers is the Florida law and not on what the Eleventh Circuit may think Florida law should be. Compare Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980).

This court has held that, where the error that had been committed had no effect on the jury, another jury proceeding was unnecessary. Funchers v. State, 399 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1982), Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1981).

Proffitt argues that he should have another jury because the original jury verdict was rendered on the basis of his 1974 counsel's misguided understanding of the death penalty statute. (Appellant's brief p. 40). As we have herein above pointed out, this is incorrect. Counsel then, as a counsel now, made a tactical decision as to how to proceed. As pointed out above, Proffitt's 1974 counsel gave many reasons why he did not present character evidence before the jury.

He also argues that since the present judge excluded Dr. Crumbley's testimony he should be allowed a new jury to consider character evidence, absent Dr. Crumbley's testimony. Suffice it to say that Proffitt in 1974 was found to have rendered effective representation, Proffitt v. Wainwright, supra, and that his present counsel is bound by his 1974 counsel's tactical decision to allow Dr. Crumbley's testimony. This will be more fully discussed in the cross appeal.

Next Proffitt argues that the jury was improperly instructed in several respects. (Appellant's brief p 43-45). That is a matter that should have been raised in his first direct appeal. Moreover, no objections to the instructions were interposed.

Understandably, Proffitt wants to try again with a jury.

Under his issue A (Appellant's brief p 27) and under this issue Appellant, relying on Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) and its progeny suggests that a new jury proceeding is mandated. Essentially, Appellant argues that since a new sentence was required he should be allowed to present to a jury the same mitigating

evidence he presented to the sentencing judge, but which his 1974 counsel opted not to present. He reasons, of course, that if he is successful in getting the jury not to recommend death the trial judge would be precluded from overriding the jury, absent a showing of clear and convincing evidence justifying imposition of the death sentence.

There are several reasons why his argument is flawed.

The first is that, as we have seen, Proffitt v. Wainwright did not require new jury sentencing proceedings. All that was required was for the sentencing authority to give Proffitt an opportunity to cross examine Dr. Spehe before sentencing and to have Proffitt present during Dr. Coffey's testimony.

The second is that neither Tedder nor its essence require a new jury sentencing proceeding. As we have seen jury sentencing is not constitutionally required. Spaziano v. Florida, 35 Cr. L. 3199 (1984). Fla. Stat. 921.141(3) (1983) is silent as to any standard by which a trial judge may override a jury recommendation. The fact is section (3) appears to allow a trial judge to impose a death sentence, regardless what the jury recommends, as long as the judge finds the mitigating circumstances do not outweigh the aggravating. The Tedder standard was judicially created by this Court and should be limited to the factual setting in which it arose: one where a jury has recommended a sentence of life imprisonment and the judge, as the sentencing authority chooses to override the jury recommendation.

The jury does not sentence in Florida. The judge is the sentencing authority. The jury only recommends as the conscience



of the community. McCaskill v. State, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977). While a jury recommendation may militate against the presumption that death is proper Williams v. State, 386 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1980) and, while the jury may be instructed as to aggravating and mitigating circumstances, it does not make specific findings as to what aggravating and mitigating circumstances exist. This is because its recommendation only echos whether the community would approve the death penalty in any particular case. But, regardless what the jury recommends, if the judge cannot find any aggravating circumstance which makes a defendant eligible for the death penalty he cannot impose the death sentence.

In the instant case the jury echoed the feelings of the community that the death sentence was appropriate. We do not know on what basis it did this, since the jury is not required to make specific findings. The point is, however, that the jury has already spoken and it is unnecessary for another jury to again voice the community's thoughts on this case.

Thirdly, In seeking another try at the jury, appellant argues that if he were now allowed to present his character and mitigating evidence the jury might not now recommend a death sentence. This is not a situation where appellant claims he has newly discovered mitigating evidence. It is manifestly clear that his previous counsel was well aware of this evidence and made a tactical decision not to use it, opting instead to utilize Dr. Crumbley's testimony to establish that appellant was under extreme mental or emotional distress and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his

conduct and to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d at 1243-1244. One need only compare the witnesses that testified at the hearing below (R 232-307) with the witnesses discussed at id 1240 to see that they were the same.

Interestingly, present counsel criticized former counsel's tactical decision and contended it constituted ineffectiveness. Id. 1243-1245. (Failure to object to admission of Crumbley Testimony) and Id 1357-1248 (Failure to Present Character Witnesses). Succeeding in obtaining a new sentence, present counsel chose instead to move, successfully, to suppress Dr. Crumbley's testimony, thereby removing the statutory mental mitigating circumstances from consideration by the judge and opting for character evidence. This tactical decision, as we have seen, proved no more successful in convincing the judge against imposition of the death sentence. Were Appellant claiming to have "newly discovered evidence" to present at the penalty phase it would not qualify as such, not only because it is not newly discovered but because it is not such evidence that would preclude imposition of the death sentence. Hallman v. State, 371 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1979). Since no error or deficiency occurred with respect to the jury at the penalty phase and since such evidence could not even qualify under the newly discovered evidence rule we fail to see why appellant should now be entitled to try again via a new tack. As far as the jury is concerned Proffitt has had his day in court.

ARGUMENT ON CROSS APPEAL

ISSUE

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF DR. CRUMBLEY FROM CONSIDERATION IN VIEW OF THE FACT THAT HIS PREVIOUS COUNSEL HAD WAIVED THE PSYCHIATRIST/PATIENT PRIVILEGE FOR SENTENCING PURPOSES.

As the statement of the facts pertaining to this cross appeal discloses, Proffitt's 1974 counsel specifically waived the psychiatrist/client privilege and allowed Dr. Crumbley to testify before the jury at the sentencing phase of the trial. This was, as we have seen, a tactical decision on the part of counsel because counsel felt that through Dr. Crumbley he could prove two statutory mitigating circumstances; viz: that Proffitt was under extreme mental or emotional stress when he committed the murder and that Proffitt's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d at 1243-1244.

Whether one agrees or disagrees with the decision it was a reasonable one. His 1974 counsel has, in fact, been determined to have rendered effective representation. Proffitt v. Wainwright, supra. In Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 820 (1979) the Court was careful to point out that once a defendant accepts counsel's representation he allocates to counsel the power to make decisions:

It is true that when a defendant chooses to have a lawyer manage and present his case, law and tradition may allocate to the counsel the power to make binding decisions of trial strategy in many areas.

\* \* \*

This allocation can only be justified, however, by the defendant's consent at the outset, to accept counsel as his representative.

Id at 820-821

Consequently, while an accused may reject the assistance of counsel, once he accepts counsel's representation it must be assumed that he does or will concur in counsel's tactical decisions in all but perhaps the most limited situations and it does not suffice for him to say years later that he was not aware of the consequences. The Justices of the Supreme Court of the United States have expressed it this way on numerous occasions:

Although trial strategy adopted by counsel without prior consultation with an accused will not, where the circumstances are exceptional, preclude the accused from asserting constitutional claims, see Whitus v. Balkcom, 333 F2d 496 (CA 5th Cir 1964), we think that the deliberate bypassing by counsel of the contemporaneous-objection rule as a part of trial strategy would have that effect in this case.

Henry v. Mississippi,  
379 U.S. 443, 451-452  
(1965)

Under our adversary system, once a defendant has the assistance of counsel the vast array of trial decisions, strategic and tactical, which must be made before and during trial rests with the accused and his attorney. Any other approach would rewrite the duties of trial judges and counsel in our legal system.

Estelle v. Williams,  
425 U.S. 501, 512  
(1976)

Once counsel is appointed, the day-to-day conduct of the defense rests with the attorney. He, not the client, has the immediate --- and ultimate --- responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop. Not only do these decisions rest with the attorney, but such decisions must as a practical matter, be made without consulting the client.

Wainwright v. Sykes,  
433 U.S. 72, 93  
(1977) Chief Justice Burger,  
concurring.

"If counsel is to have the responsibility for conducting a contested criminal trial, quite obviously he must have the authority to make important tactical decisions promptly as a trial progresses. The very reasons why counsel's participation is of such critical importance in assuring a fair trial for the defendant, see *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 US 45, 68-69, [77 L.Ed 158, 53 S.Ct. 55, 84 ALR 527],... make it inappropriate to require that his tactical decisions always be personally approved, or even thoroughly understood, by this client. Unquestionably, assuming the lawyer's competence, the client must accept the consequences of his trial strategy. A rule which would require the client's participation in every decision to object, or not to object, to proffered evidence would make a shambles of orderly procedure."

Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72 95  
footnote 2 Mr. Justice Stevens,  
concurring.

We have quoted extensively from these cases because it is important to emphasize that counsel's decisions are binding on the client even where he does not consult with his client or even where not thoroughly understood by the client. Nevertheless in the instant case, Proffitt's 1974 counsel did consult with Proffitt. We know this because counsel so said while Proffitt was present (See quote p. 3 herein above).

Although Dr. Crumbley's testimony was considered by the jury and by the trial judge in 1974, and although the federal courts did not find any error with respect to it, the lower court excluded it from consideration because Proffitt testified in 1984 he was not aware of the consequences of such waiver when he waived and because his counsel had waived only for "...for purposes this particular proceeding" (T.R. 497).

A waiver is an intentional relinquishment of a known right. Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938) For the waiver to be effective you have to be aware of the right and intentionally relinquish it. It is unnecessary, however, that it be intelligently made knowing all possible consequences that may result from it. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973) at 235. For instance in Murch v. Mottram, 409 U.S. 41 (1972) a defendant withdrew in state court a claim "...without prejudice..." Id. 42, in spite of the admonition by the court that it might constitute a waiver of the claim. Subsequently, he presented the claim in federal habeas and testified in federal district court that "...he did not intend to waive..." Id 46. The Supreme Court, in holding that his actions constituted a waiver binding on him, said:

"... a state prisoner may not deliberately "elect" not to comply with the interpretation of the state procedural statute by the state court, and then assert in federal court that no rights were waived because he did not have the subjective intent to waive his constitutional claims.

Id at 46

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